STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

RECEIVED

05-14-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

No. 2015AP297-CR (Brown County Case No. 2010CF770)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MYCHAEL R. HATCHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and the Final Orders Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court, the Hons. Sue Bischel and Tammy Jo Hock, Presiding

Amelia L. Bizzaro State Bar. No. 1045709

BIZZARO LAW LLC Counsel for the Defendant-Appellant 2266 N. Prospect Ave., Suite 310 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 [414] 224-5326

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Hatcher went out drinking with his girlfriend and two of her friends on July 2, 2011. One of those friends, Tara Thompson spent the night at the apartment Hatcher shared with his girlfriend. The next morning, Thompson said Hatcher raped her. At trial, there was no dispute the two had sexual intercourse. Hatcher argued it was consensual, and the state argued Thompson was too drunk to consent. This appeal asks several questions:

- 1. Did the trial court violate Hatcher's right to a fair trial when it
- (a.) refused to accept his pleas to two of the three counts the state charged him with the morning of trial after learning the state was dismissing a fourth charge *and*
- (b). permitted the state to call a "rebuttal" witness about sexual assault victims' propensity to call a friend or loved one before calling the police, even though Hatcher never offered any evidence in his case to dispute that?

The post-conviction court denied relief on these grounds. R122:7-11, 16-17, App.13-17, 22-23.

2. Was Hatcher's right to present a defense violated when the court limited his testimony at trial?

The post-conviction court denied relief on this ground. R122:11-5, App.17-21.

3. Was trial counsel ineffective when he failed to move to suppress Hatcher's statement to police and offered evidence at trial that directly undercut the defense?

The post-conviction court denied relief on this ground. R122:17-22, App.23-28.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under WIS. STAT. (RULE) 809.22. Appellant's arguments are substantial and oral argument would enhance this Court's understanding of the complex issues raised here.

Publication is warranted in this case. Both the trial court and the post-conviction court denied Hatcher relief on his rebuttal witness claim because it found that rebuttal witnesses were entitled to testify to contradict evidence the defendant elicited on cross-examination, not just during the defense's presentation of the case. This is a novel approach and there is no published decision in support of such reasoning.

Publication is also warranted because there are no cases in Wisconsin addressing directly whether evidence of flirting is admissible or inadmissible under rape shield. This issue arose in this case both between the complainant and the defendant and the complainant and others. Accordingly, publication is warranted.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

No. 2015AP297-CR (Brown County Case No. 2010CF770)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MYCHAEL R. HATCHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 2, 2010, Mychael Hatcher, his girlfriend Lisa Ewald and two of Ewald's friends, Erin Peterson and Tara Thompson went out for a night of drinking. R142:122-23. Hatcher, Ewald and Thompson ended up at the apartment Ewald and Hatcher shared. R142:124. The next morning, Thompson called Peterson, and then the police and claimed that Hatcher raped her. R142:125.

The police arrived within minutes. Three officers responded and each approached one of the occupants of the apartment and separated them. R142:126. Sgt. Jeremy

Schnurer took Hatcher outside and spoke with him. Thompson identified Hatcher as the assailant during her call. Police arrested Hatcher and took him to the police station. Once there, a detective informed Hatcher of his *Miranda* rights and interviewed him. The state later charged Hatcher with second-degree sexual assault, obstruction, bail jumping, disorderly conduct, and the fraudulent use of identifying information, each as a repeater. *See* R1.

The morning of trial, the state dropped the disorderly conduct and fraudulent ID charges. R142:25-26, App.106-107. Hatcher tried to enter pleas to the obstruction and bail jumping charges, but the court would not allow it. R142:26-27, App.107-108. The main focus of the trial was on the sexual assault allegation.

Much of the evidence at trial was undisputed. The group met at the Stadium View Bar in the early evening to drink and hang out. R142:162, 197-98. Hatcher and Thompson played a few games a pool, and towards the end of the night Hatcher got into a dispute with another guy there. R142:131, 177. He was thrown out around 10:30 or 11 p.m. and Ewald and Hatcher took Thompson to their place. R142:166. Peterson had already left. Ewald drove and Thompson fell asleep in the car. R142:282. Once there, Ewald helped Thompson into the apartment. R142:226, 287. Ewald escorted her to the guest bedroom, where she fell back asleep. R142:227.

Ewald went to sleep in her room, but Hatcher went to another nearby bar. R142:228. He returned home around 2

a.m., and got two glasses of water. R142:130. He took one to Ewald and put a movie on. *Id.* Ewald fell back asleep during the movie. *Id.* It is at this point that the testimony at trial differs.

Hatcher testified that he brought Thompson the second glass of water, woke her up, and had a brief conversation with her before the two engaged in consensual sex. R142:131; R143:360-61. He was positioned behind her and did not use a condom because Thompson said she was allergic to latex. R143:366. Thompson testified that she was asleep and woke up to Hatcher having sex with her. R142:171. She was so drunk that she could not move her limbs or form any words and could only groan. R142:172. Thompson said that Hatcher pulled her pants and underwear off and then replaced her pants. When she woke up, she was without her underwear and was sore. She called Peterson with her suspicions that Hatcher had raped her. R142:204. Peterson encouraged her to call the police, if what she said really happened. *Id.* Thompson called the police.

At trial, the state argued that Thompson was too intoxicated to consent. R142:119-28. Hatcher argued that she was not too drunk to consent and in fact did consent. R142:129-33. After a two-day trial, the jury found Hatcher guilty of all counts. The court sentenced Hatcher to 15 years initial confinement and 15 years extended supervision. R55. Hatcher timely filed a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief. R54. The state public defender's office

originally appointed counsel, who withdrew, and was reinstated. *See* R77. That attorney filed a no merit notice of appeal. R80. Hatcher hired private counsel and at his request, this Court dismissed his no merit appeal. R96.

Hatcher timely filed a post-conviction motion. R103. The circuit court, the Hon. Tammy Jo Hock presiding, held an evidentiary hearing and considered the parties' briefs before issuing a decision denying Hatcher's motion. R114, R116, R122, R145. Hatcher filed a motion to reconsider part of the decision, which the court also denied. R124, R128. Hatcher timely filed a Notice of Appeal and this brief follows. R129.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Violated Hatcher's Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial

Hatcher's right to a fair trial was violated in two ways. First, right before the trial began, the state filed an amended information dismissing two of the charges. R33. In response, Hatcher attempted to enter guilty pleas to two other charges so that the trial would only be on the most serious count: second-degree sexual assault. R142:26, App.38. The court denied his request.

Second, after Hatcher rested his case, which involved only his testimony, the state called Samantha McKenzie, an expert, to testify that sexual assault victims often call a friend or loved one before calling the police. R143:419. This related to testimony the state elicited during *its* case, not Hatcher's. Counsel objected, but the court permitted it.

A. Background

1. Attempt to Plead

Hatcher was scheduled for trial on this case and "probably four other files pending [] have jury trial dates set on them." R141:2, App.31. Unable to reach a resolution on all of the pending charges, the trial was on as scheduled. R141:2-3, App.31-32. The court explained:

Left on the calendar means it's going to trial. I am not available tomorrow or Monday for last minute, [']please, Judge, we got a deal worked out.['] I am simply not available. I am done doing that. I am done working through the noon hours and at 5 o'clock at night for that kind of stuff. Done. The calendar is booked solid. And I am simply not available anytime in the normal working hours.

Id. The state confirmed that the offer was "on all of the files," and was final. R141:3, App.32. The court again warned Hatcher that a failure to accept the deal on all of the cases meant a trial. R141:3-4, App.32-33.

The day of trial, the parties and the court addressed discovery and witness issues. Right before the court was ready to call in the jury, the state filed an Amended Information that no longer included disorderly conduct and the fraudulent use of identifying information. R142:26, App.38. Hatcher's attorney, Aaron Schenk, did not object. *Id.* "And to be honest, Your Honor, my client is prepared to enter a plea to obstructing and bail jumping. And to keep the trial confined to the sexual assault." *Id.*

The court reminded the parties that it specifically said there would be no last minute deals. R142:26-27, App.38-39. Hatcher explained that he thought that meant he could not accept the deal the state previously offered him. R142:27, App.39.

Schenk hastily had Hatcher sign a plea questionnaire and submitted it, but nothing was filled out. R142:28-20, App.40-41. The case proceeded to trial on the three counts in the amended information: the sexual assault, obstruction and bail jumping.

When it amended the charges, the prosecutor told the court that she put Schenk "on notice yesterday that if we tried this case, I would be doing this." R142:26, App.38. But at the post-conviction motion hearing, Schenk testified that the state surprised him when it filed the amended information. "As I recall, it was not anything that had been disclosed to me even the day before trial." *Id. See also* R145:11. Because he didn't know the state would move to dismiss charges the day of trial, he didn't prepare a plea questionnaire in advance of trial. R145:11.

The two counts that were left in addition to the sexual assault count—obstruction and bail jumping—"were the sort of counts that [Hatcher] was comfortable pleading to, that he was always comfortable pleading to, and then to proceed directly to trial on just the sexual assault." R145:9. In Schenk's opinion, the fewer the charges, the better. R145:10. Had those charges been dropped Schenk would have tried to keep out information related to them, for example the fact that Hatcher was on bond at the time of the incident with Thompson. R145:11.

Schenk testified that the purpose of the final pre-trial was to tell the court whether the case had resolved or was going to trial. R145:8. "Resolved" meant a deal had been reached on all of Hatcher's pending cases, eliminating the need for trial. This confirmed what Hatcher told the court the morning of trial: "But Your Honor, I took that as to them offering me a deal or me accepting what they had offered already." R142:27.

The post-conviction court found that the trial court's decision was a "proper exercise of discretion." R122:9, App.15. According to it, Hatcher should have plead earlier. "Instead, Hatcher sought to pick-and-choose the counts the morning of trial, when the counts resulted from one course of conduct." R122:9, App.15. In any event, the post-conviction court found, any error was harmless. R122:9-11, App.15-17.

2. The Rebuttal Witness

After Hatcher rested, the state called Samantha McKenzie to testify. After McKenzie recounted some of her qualifications, the court interrupted before McKenzie could render an opinion and asked for more foundation. R143:405-408. The state complied. R143:409-410. Schenk asked for a

In addition to this case, in which Hatcher faced five charges, he faced 10 more charges in three other cases. *See* Brown County Case Nos. 2009CM974 (one count each of misdemeanor battery and disorderly conduct); 2009CF577 (one count each of felony strangulation and suffocation, felony second-degree recklessly endangering safety, misdemeanor theft, misdemeanor criminal damage to property, misdemeanor disorderly conduct, and misdemeanor battery); 2009CM1829 (one count each of misdemeanor disorderly conduct and battery). After the trial, the state dismissed all of the pending cases. *Id*.

sidebar and a hearing was held outside the presence of the jury. R143:405-408. The court explained its concerns over the foundation for McKenzie's opinion and Schenk objected to all of McKenzie's testimony. "Your Honor, my understanding of rebuttal witnesses is that if they need to, if the State needs to rebut something that I put in my case in chief, they have an opportunity to do that. My case in chief consisted of my client testifying." R143:411-12, App.150-151. The court disagreed. "It isn't just what your client testified to. You can't say that. That if you cross-examine someone on something to try to impeach their credibility, it doesn't count, because your client didn't say it. It's—rebuttal is to everything you did in defense of your client." R143:412, App.151. Schenk maintained his objection, noting that the state could have elicited this type of testify in their case, but opted not to. *Id*.

The state explained that it viewed McKenzie's anticipated testimony as rebuttal because defense counsel "asked several witnesses about" Thompson's reporting of the incident. *Id.* The trial court permitted McKenzie's testimony:

Okay. All right. Everyone agrees that Mr. Schenk made a point in cross-exam that [Thompson] did not call the police right away...But she called Erin Peterson, her friend and her co-worker, rather than calling the police. I do think this is appropriate rebuttal then. Because it is in response to the clear suggestion that this was not the way the victim described it. It happened in some other fashion. That it was consensual. Or she would have done something different other than call her friend first. So, it is appropriate rebuttal.

R143:414-415, App.153-154.

McKenzie testified that "in most cases, if [sexual assault victims] disclose to someone what happened to them, due to embarrassment or other reasons, they will talk to someone that they trust, being a friend or a family member, before they report to someone formally in the system." R143:419.

B. Legal Principles

1. Accepting a Guilty Plea

A defendant has "no absolute right to have a guilty plea accepted." *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971). *See also United States v. Lucas*, 429 F.3d 1154, 1157 (7th Cir. 2005). The court has considerable discretion in deciding whether to accept a guilty plea. *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 24, 38, fn. 11 (1970). Although it has discretion, it "cannot act arbitrarily in rejecting a plea, and must articulate on the record a "sound reason" for the rejection." *United State v. Kelly*, 312 F.3d 328, 330 (7th Cir. 2002) (citations omitted).

This Court will uphold the court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but it will apply the facts to the law *de novo*. *State v. Green*, 2002 WI 68, ¶20.

2. Rebuttal Witnesses

The purpose of rebuttal evidence is to "contradict, impeach or defuse the impact of the evidence offered by an adverse party." *Peals v. Terre Haute Police Dept.*, 535 F.3d 621, 630 (7th Cir. 2008). Whether the trial court should admit rebuttal evidence is within the court's discretion. *Rausch v. Buisse*, 33 Wis.2d 154, 167 (1996). The general rule is that rebuttal evidence "may only meet the new facts put in by the

defendant in his case in reply." *Id.* The court has discretion to admit or refuse to admit it. "An exception is generally made when the evidence is necessary to achieve justice." *Id.*

A bona fide rebuttal witness is one who is not necessary for the state's case-in-chief and only becomes necessary after the defense presents its case-in-reply. *See Lunde v. State*, 85 Wis. 2d 80, 91-92 (1978). *See also State v. Konkol*, 2002 WI App 174, ¶18.

Admission of evidence is reviewed for misuse of discretion. *State v. Givens*, 217 Wis.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1998). Whether the admission of McKenzie's testimony violated Hatcher's due process right to a fair trial is reviewed *de novo*. *Green* at ¶20.

C. Hatcher was Entitled to Enter Pleas in Response to the State's Amended Information

The trial court made it clear at the pre-trial hearing that Hatcher's options were to resolve *all* of the pending charges against him in five different cases that day, or have a jury trial. R141:3, App.32. He opted for trial. But everything changed when the state, moments before the court called the jury in, filed an Amended Information eliminating two of the charges Hatcher faced. It was then that Hatcher offered to plead guilty outright to the remaining two less serious charges. R142:26, App.38.

The trial court rejected this, finding that Hatcher had missed his window to plead, later commenting that Hatcher's "position changed over the weekend. I don't know why that happened. But it has obviously changed." R142:29, App.110.

The court was wrong. It wasn't that Hatcher's position changed over the weekend—he still was not interested in pleading guilty to resolve all of the pending charges—it was that the *state's* position that changed. The state acknowledged, for the first time, that it could not prove the allegations against Hatcher in two of the charges. Specifically, the prosecutor said that her office "was not able to make contact with" the alleged victim of the fraudulent ID charge. R142:26, App.107. "Knowing that we are now proceeding today and the fact that he is unavailable, we are amending the Information to—we filed this to make the case cleaner and make it clear we're just proceeding on these three counts." *Id*.

With that change, counsel expressed Hatcher's willingness to plead to the remaining less-serious charges so that the trial could focus only on the sexual assault allegations. *See* R142:26-27, App.107-108.

The court's blanket no-last-minute-plea policy was itself arbitrary. Its purpose could be only to punish the defendant, and frankly everyone else involved in the trial, witnesses and jurors alike. Such a policy does not take into consideration a change of circumstances, like the one that occurred here. This was not a case of a defendant playing "chicken" and only opting for the deal when the state's witnesses showed up. Nor was it the case of a defendant who wanted to accept the same deal he had previously rejected. It was not, as the court put it, a "last minute deal." R142:27, App.108. Rather, Hatcher's offer to plead guilty to the bail jumping and obstruction was only

in response to the state's amendment of the information and *without* the benefit of a plea deal.

The court's basis for rejecting Hatcher's plea was only that it did not want to keep the jury waiting. R142:28, App.109. But the amount of time it would have taken to allow counsel to review the plea questionnaire form and for the court to conduct a hearing would have been minimal. The prejudice caused by the admission of evidence of the charges to Hatcher at trial far outweighed any minor inconvenience the panel would experience by waiting less than half an hour.

At the time, the state argued that Hatcher's plea would not avoid testimony that "he lied to the cops." R142:28, App.109. Maybe. Hatcher's plea would have eliminated any testimony about his statements to police regarding his name, which was the basis for both the obstruction and bail jumping charges. It would not have eliminated any evidence about Hatcher's change in explanation regarding his encounter with Thompson (assuming that his statements were otherwise admissible).

The minor inconvenience to the jury was not reason enough to prevent Hatcher from pleading, particularly given that his decision was prompted by the state's last-minute acknowledgment that it could not prove those counts. It stands to reason that five days before trial, the state *knew* it had witness problems on the fraudulent ID count. But if Hatcher accepted its offer on all of the charges, it would not have to reveal that. When Hatcher rejected the deal, the state

was forced to come clean and dismiss the charges the day of his jury trial. It was only then, that counsel saw the possibility that Hatcher could plead to the other two misdemeanor counts. *See* R142:26-27, App.107-108; R145:9, 11, App.38, 40.

The trial court erred when it concluded that Hatcher had a change of heart over the weekend; he did not. It also erred when it refused to allow Hatcher to plead to the misdemeanor charges because of a minor inconvenience to the jury.

The post-conviction court concluded that the trial court properly exercised its discretion.R122:9, App.15. It found that "Hatcher's decision to plead the morning of the trial, without an agreement from the State, highlights that nothing was stopping him from entering pleas to those counts on May 12, 2011. R122:9, App.15. Like the trial court, this overlooks what happened at the final pre-trial. Hatcher's options were to accept a deal on all of his cases or have a trial—it was all or none. *See* R142:27, App. 39; R145:8, App.37.

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