RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-11-2015

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

Case No. 2015AP0297-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MYCHAEL R. HATCHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLES SUE BISCHEL AND TAMMY JO HOCK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SANDRA L. TARVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011578

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The State disagrees. Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(d) requires the disclosure of the State's intended witnesses, with the exception of rebuttal and impeachment witnesses. See State v. Novy, 2013 WI 23, ¶¶ 23-25, 346 Wis. 2d 289, 827 N.W.2d 610. A court's decision whether to admit evidence as bona fide rebuttal evidence will be upheld if the trial court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard, and reached a reasonable conclusion using a demonstrated rational process. Id. ¶ 36.

the reasonably concluded Because court that McKenzie was a bona fide rebuttal witness, the State was not obliged by Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(d) to have listed her as a witness. The State is not required to disclose the names of rebuttal witnesses "even when the State knows the defense strategy in advance and anticipates using the witness at trial." State v. Sandoval, 2009 WI App 61, ¶ 30, 318 Wis. 2d 126, 767 N.W.2d 291. "The test of admissibility of rebuttal evidence is whether it only became necessary and appropriate when the defendant presented his or her casein-reply." *Id.* However, "[o]nce a defendant presents a theory of defense, . . . the credibility of that theory becomes an issue in the case," and "[t]he defendant runs the risk that the State will rebut the defense theory with evidence of its own." *Id.* ¶ 31.

The court reasonably allowed McKenzie to testify as a rebuttal witness for the State. Rebuttal evidence is admissible where, as here, it rebuts a theory of defense elicited on cross-examination of the State's complaining witness. See State v. Gershon, 114 Wis. 2d 8, 10-14, 337 N.W.2d 460 (Ct. App. 1983) (upholding introduction on testimony relevant to the child victim's credibility). In Gershon, the State charged the defendant with first-degree sexual assault of a nine-year-old male child. Id. at 9-10. The child testified that the defendant sexually assaulted him. On cross-examination, "the defense implied that his testimony was prompted by an attempt to avoid parental discipline and

was extensively prepared by the prosecution." *Id.* at 10. On rebuttal, the State was permitted to call three witnesses to whom the child had given consistent statements. *Id.*

Like in *Gershon*, Hatcher implied a theory of defense on cross-examination of the State's complaining witness. Hatcher implied that the victim was not telling the truth because, if she were in fact raped, she would have called the police first (142:183-84). The State was entitled to call a witness to rebut the defense theory implied on cross-examination of the complaining witness. *Gershon*, 114 Wis. 2d at 10.

Even if *Gershon* does not control, the court reasonably admitted McKenzie's testimony as bona fide rebuttal evidence. The testimony was necessary and appropriate to rebut a theory implied by Hatcher's case-in-chief. Hatcher testified that, while his girlfriend Lisa was asleep in another bedroom, he woke the victim up to see if she would have sex with him (143:361). He testified that the victim's first response was to ask where Lisa was (143:362). Hatcher testified that he responded that Lisa was asleep (143:362).

Hatcher testified that, while he and the victim were making out, the victim again asked where Lisa was (143:365; 143:400). According to Hatcher, he told her that Lisa was asleep and was not going to wake up, at which point the victim took off her pants (143:365). Hatcher

testified that the victim said she would kill him if he told Lisa what happened (143:400).

Hatcher's testimony implied that the victim wanted to conceal what happened from Lisa. The implication is that, if the victim had nothing to conceal, she would have called the police first. Hatcher's testimony thus fed a theory of the defense that, because the victim did not call the police first, she was not telling the truth. It was necessary and appropriate for the State to rebut that implication with McKenzie's testimony that sexual assault victims often call a trusted friend or family member before formally reporting the assault to authorities.

Because McKenzie was a bona fide rebuttal witness, the State was not obliged by Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(d) to list her as a witness before she testified.

3. If the court erred, the error was harmless.

If the trial court erroneously admitted McKenzie's testimony, the error was harmless. "[E]rror is harmless if it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." State v. Hunt, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 26, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434 (quoted source omitted).

It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have found Hatcher guilty without the rebuttal evidence. See id. As the trial court found, McKenzie's testimony added only marginally to the State's case against Hatcher (122:17). The victim and Peterson consistently testified about the phone call and its content. There was no evidence that Peterson lied or had a motive to lie. Thus, whether the victim called Peterson before calling the police does not establish that the victim was not telling the truth.

The victim's testimony at trial was consistent with what she said right after the incident: that Hatcher raped her. The victim's testimony also was supported by strong corroborating evidence. The victim testified that she was on her stomach with her head turned to the side when Hatcher had sex with her from behind (142:171). She testified that his hand was on the back of her neck area (142:171). Hatcher denied at trial that he held her down (143:403). The State introduced evidence of bruises on the back of the victim's right shoulder, behind her right ear, and on her neck (142:278-81). The physical evidence thus corroborated the victim's testimony and contradicted Hatcher's version of events.

Importantly, Hatcher gave inconsistent statements about the assault (142:252; 143:396). At first Hatcher told police that he did not touch the victim (142:250-52). He later admitted that he lied and that he had sexual intercourse with the victim (143:398). Hatcher's undisputed actions strongly imply consciousness of guilt and, thus, guilt itself.

Bettinger, 100 Wis. 2d at 698 (evidence of acts taken to obstruct justice or avoid punishment is relevant and admissible to prove consciousness of guilt). Given how badly Hatcher damaged his own credibility, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the admission of McKenzie's testimony did not contribute to the jury's verdict. *Hunt*, 360 Wis. 2d 576, ¶ 26.

II. The trial court's exclusion of Hatcher's testimony does not entitle him to a new trial.

A. Introduction.

Hatcher argues that the trial court erroneously applied Wisconsin's rape shield statute and violated his constitutional right to present a defense by excluding portions of his testimony. Hatcher's brief at 17-31. According to Hatcher, the court excluded testimony that the victim talked at the bar about wanting to have sex and that the victim flirted with Hatcher and other men at the bar. Hatcher's brief at 26.

Hatcher should have been permitted to testify, just as [the victim], Peterson and Schrank did, that [the victim] made comments to him that night about finding male company. He also should have been permitted to testify about [the victim] flirting with him and other men at the bar especially because [the victim] began flirting with Hatcher when her flirtations with the other men didn't go very well. The Court's decision to allow other witnesses to testify to it, but not Hatcher, violated his right to fully present a defense.

Hatcher's brief at 31 (citation omitted).

Hatcher is not entitled to a new trial. First, the trial court excluded only testimony that the victim talked at the bar about wanting to have sex. The exclusion of this evidence is not reversible error because the testimony was cumulative and not vital to Hatcher's defense. If the court erred, the error was harmless. The testimony was repetitive of otherwise undisputed evidence and would not have changed the outcome of trial.

Hatcher's remaining arguments fail. The court either admitted Hatcher's proffered testimony or said it would not bar the admission. For these reasons, Hatcher's evidentiary claims do not warrant a new trial.

B. The court did not err when it precluded Hatcher from testifying that the victim talked about wanting to have sex with other men.

On the first day of trial, three witnesses testified that the victim made statements among friends at the bar indicating that she wanted to have sex that night (142:179-80, 208, 318-19). Attorney Schenk argued that the evidence was not barred by the rape shield statute (142:313-14).

On the second day of trial, Hatcher sought to testify that the victim talked about wanting to have sex. Attorney Schenk explained:

ATTORNEY SCHENK: I am going along the same lines that I went along yesterday, trying to elicit that she was looking to have sex with somebody that night, which goes to the issue of consent. It was allowed in yesterday. And I am trying to get Mr. Hatcher to verify that that was also said to him.

(143:350-51).

The court precluded Hatcher from testifying to the victim's statements about wanting to have sex with men other than him on the ground that the evidence is barred by the rape shield statute (143:352). See Wis. Stat. § 972.11.

On appeal, Hatcher argues that the trial court erroneously applied the rape shield statute and violated Hatcher's right to present a defense when it precluded him from testifying that the victim talked about wanting to have sex. Hatcher's brief at 17-31.

Hatcher is not entitled to relief. A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is within that court's broad discretion over evidentiary matters. See State v. Wagner, 191 Wis. 2d 322, 330, 528 N.W.2d 85 (Ct. App. 1995). A trial court properly exercises its discretion when it examines relevant facts, applies a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reaches a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. State v. Marinez, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 17, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399.

Even if the record does not demonstrate a proper exercise of discretion by the trial court, reviewing courts "independently review the record to determine whether it provides a basis for the circuit court's exercise of discretion."

State v. Gray, 225 Wis. 2d 39, 51, 590 N.W.2d 918 (1999) (quoting State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 781, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998)). Thus, a trial court's evidentiary decision generally will be upheld "unless it can be said that no reasonable judge, acting on the same facts and underlying law, could reach the same conclusion." State v. Payano, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 51, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832 (quoting State v. Jeske, 197 Wis. 2d 905, 913, 541 N.W.2d 225 (Ct. App. 1995).

A trial court may exclude relevant evidence if it is needlessly cumulative. *See* Wis. Stat. § 904.03 (although relevant, evidence may be excluded if it needlessly presents cumulative evidence); *State v. Leighton*, 2000 WI App 156, ¶ 49, 237 Wis. 2d 709, 616 N.W.2d 126 (trial court properly exercises its discretion by excluding cumulative evidence).

Here, there is no dispute that Hatcher's proffered testimony was cumulative of testimony already introduced through Erin Peterson, Detective Shrank, and the victim herself. In his offer of proof, Attorney Schenk said that he was seeking to elicit testimony from Hatcher like that allowed the day before (143:350-51). Indeed, Hatcher concedes on appeal that the ruling's effect was to prevent Hatcher from testifying, "just as [the victim], Peterson and Schrank did." Hatcher's brief at 31.

Because the excluded evidence was cumulative, it cannot be said that the trial court's decision was one that no

reasonable judge could have reached under these facts and controlling law. *Cf. Payano*, 320 Wis. 2d 348, ¶ 51. Although the court did not exclude the evidence on that ground, it easily could have. Consequently, this court can and should affirm the court's exclusion of evidence. *See Milton v. Washburn Cnty.*, 2011 WI App 48, ¶ 8 n.5, 332 Wis. 2d 319, 797 N.W.2d 924 ("if a circuit court reaches the right result for the wrong reason, we will nevertheless affirm"); *see also State v. Bustamante*, 201 Wis. 2d 562, 577 n.9, 549 N.W.2d 746 (Ct. App. 1996) (appellate court is "free to examine a ground other than that relied on by the trial court if the alternate ground results in an affirmance").

Hatcher argues that the court violated his right to present a defense. Hatcher's brief at 27-28. Hatcher's defense theory was that the victim was capable of consent and gave her consent to sexual intercourse (142:300; 143:350). Hatcher argues that the victim's interest in having sex shows that she consented when he had intercourse with her. Hatcher's brief at 31.

As a threshold matter, the constitutional argument Hatcher makes on appeal was forfeited when Attorney Schenk failed to raise it at trial (143:348-357). See State v. Jenkins, 168 Wis. 2d 175, 187-88, 483 N.W.2d 262 (Ct. App. 1992) (the proponent has the burden to show why evidence is admissible); see also State v. Van Camp, 213 Wis. 2d 131, 144, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997) (arguments raised for the first

time on appeal are generally deemed waived); see also State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶ 28-30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612.

Rather than address the merits of Hatcher's belated argument, this court should hold that he has forfeited it by failing to present it at trial. As this court declared in *Jenkins*, 168 Wis. 2d at 187-88:

A party objecting to the admission of evidence need not specify the rule into which the evidence does *not* fit. *See State v. Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d 168, 174, 479 N.W.2d 198, 200 (Ct. App. 1991). Rather, the proponent has the burden to show why the evidence is admissible.

The foregoing rationale applies here. If the refusal to admit the victim's statements violates Hatcher's right to present a defense, defense counsel had the burden to raise the argument at the time of trial. It was not the trial court's responsibility to raise the issue. Because Hatcher did not do so, he may not make the constitutional argument for the first time on appeal. *Bustamante*, 201 Wis. 2d at 572.

In any event, the trial court did not violate Hatcher's right to present a defense. The rights bestowed by the confrontation and compulsory process clauses of the Sixth Amendment grant the defendant a constitutional right to present a defense. See State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 645, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990). However, a criminal defendant does not have the constitutional right to present any and all evidence in support of his claim. Chambers v. Mississippi,

410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973); *State v. Hammer*, 2000 WI 92, ¶¶ 42-43, 236 Wis. 2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629. Rather, the accused's right to present evidence "may, in appropriate cases, bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process." *Chambers*, 410 U.S. at 295.

To establish Sixth Amendment violation, a defendant must prove that the excluded testimony would have been relevant, material and vital to the defense. *United* States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858, 867 (1982). Stated another way, the test for whether the exclusion of evidence violates the right to present a defense asks "whether the proffered evidence was 'essential to' the defense, and whether without the proffered evidence, the defendant had 'no reasonable means of defending his case." State v. Williams, 2002 WI 58, ¶ 70, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919 (citation omitted). Whether the exclusion violated a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense is a question of law. State v. Dodson, 219 Wis. 2d 65, 69-70, 580 N.W.2d 181 (1998).

Hatcher's testimony was cumulative and, thus, not vital to his defense as a matter of law. Three witnesses other than Hatcher, including the victim herself, testified that the victim talked about wanting to have sex that night (142:179-80, 208, 318-19). Hatcher thus had a reasonable means of asserting his consent defense. Because additional testimony would have been repetitious, Hatcher cannot show that the

excluded evidence was "vital" to his defense or that its exclusion violated his constitutional right to present a defense. See Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. at 867.

C. If the court erred, the error was harmless.

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